Public Document Pack

North

’&‘ Herts

Council

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

A

MEETING OF THE HERTFORDSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME
PANEL

will be held at

STEVENAGE BOROUGH COUNCIL, DANESHILL HOUSE,
DANESTRETE, STEVENAGE, SG1 1HN

On

THURSDAY, 5TH FEBRUARY, 2026 AT 6.00 PM



Agenda

Part |
Item Page
1. AGENDA AND REPORTS (Pages 3
This meeting is administered by Broxbourne Borough Council. - 68)

The agenda and reports pack are attached.



-—

Agenda ltem 1

m  FE  MEETING OF
5% & | ERTFORDSHIRE

BOROUGH .

St POLICE AND CRIME
R -y

SteyYenage THREE RIVERS PANEL

BOROUGH COUNCIL DISTRICT COUNCIL

Thursday 5t February 2026 — 6 pm
b4 St Albans ;V:TLFYET_E o
e e - O @ Stevenage Borough Council
Daneshill House

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE | N BOROUGH OF
DISTRICT COUNCIL IX BROXBOURNE Danestrete, Stevenage
. SG1 1HN

WELCOME BY CHAIR

2 APOLOGIES

3 MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS OF 19t" JUNE 2025 AND 20™ NOVEMBER 2025
(attached)

If members of the public have any comments on the draft minutes, please email
pcp@broxbourne.gov.uk

4 MATTERS ARISING FROM MINUTES

5 QUESTIONS TO THE PANEL FROM THE PUBLIC
Questions are to be sent to pcp@broxbourne.gov.uk by 29" January 2026, seven days in
advance of the meeting to allow for a quicker and more complete response. (20 minutes are
permitted)

6 QUESTIONS TO THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FROM THE PUBLIC
Questions are to be sent to pcp@broxbourne.gov.uk by 29t January 2026, seven days in
advance of the meeting to allow for a quicker and more complete response. (20 minutes
are permitted)

7 (i) REPORT ON POLICE PRECEPT CONSULTATION 2026/27
(ii) THE PROPOSED POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER’S PRECEPT 2026/27

(Reports attached)
(a) Public questions on the proposed precept/precept consultation (20 minutes are permitted)
(b) Panel consideration and questions on the proposed precept/precept consultation.
8 AOB

9 DATE OF NEXT MEETING- TBC

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR HERTFORDSHIRE

MEETING Hertfordshire Police and Crime Panel

DATE 05 February 2026

TITLE OF REPORT Report on Police Precept Consultation 2026-2027
SUBMITTED BY Dr Amie Birkhamshaw, Deputy Chief Executive, OPCC

To notify the Hertfordshire Police and Crime Panel of the

PURPOSE OF REPORT results of the public consultation on the proposed police

precept for 2026/27.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS To discuss in conjunction with the 2026/27 Budget Report
RISK IMPLICATIONS To discuss in conjunction with the 2026/27 Budget Report
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS None noted at this time

Sixty-six percent of chargeable dwellings fall within council
tax bands A to D, meaning they will incur an additional cost
of £15 or less per year. Local Council Tax Support (LCTS)
schemes are available in every district to help both
pensioners and working-age individuals with their council
tax payments.

EQUALITIES IMPACTS

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
EXEMPTION SECTION IF Not exempt under Freedom of Information Act 2000.
APPLICABLE

1. Introduction and Background

Police and Crime Commissioners have a legal duty to consult with residents and those
persons or organisations who appear to the PCC to be representative of those subject to
non-domestic rates in their area on the police element of the Council Tax precept. In
January 2026 the Commissioner consulted the residents of Hertfordshire on his proposal
to increase the policing element of the precept for an average (Band D) equivalent by £15
per annum or 5.66% per cent on the comparable figure for 2025/26, rising to £280 per
annum.

The Commissioner outlined his priority to maintain the record number of police officers
working to keep the county safe through the strong neighbourhood and responsive local
policing teams. The public consultation outlined the financial pressures that Hertfordshire
Constabulary is facing with rising costs, inflation and higher employer National Insurance
contribution. This is against the backdrop of Hertfordshire continuing to have one of the
lowest contributions towards policing through their council tax with the current precept
being £32 a year below the England and Wales average. Raising the precept by the full
flexibility allowed would generate £6.8m in income in 2026/27, resulting in a total grant

Page 5



funding of £182.2m for Hertfordshire. This level of funding will still fall short of the
increased cost base.

Table 1 below shows the calculation for a precept increase of £15 per annum for 2026/27
across all household bandings A- H. Under the proposal, each household would see an

annual increase of between 19p and 58p per week on their 2026/27 precept.

Table 1: Proposed Precept increase by Household Bands A - H (2026/27)

Band | 2025/26 | 2026/27 Precept increase
Charge | Charge £

£ £ per per per week per

annum month day

A 176.67 186.67 10.00 0.83 0.19 0.03
B 206.11 217.78 11.67 0.97 0.22 0.03
C 235.56 248.89 13.33 1.11 0.26 0.04
D 265.00 280.00 15.00 1.25 0.29 0.04
E 323.89 342.22 18.33 1.53 0.35 0.05
F 382.78 404 .44 21.66 1.81 0.42 0.06
G 441.67 466.67 25.00 2.08 0.48 0.07
H 530.00 560.00 30.00 2.50 0.58 0.08

The public survey was opened for 14 days from 12 — 26" January 2026. The shorter
timeframe was due to the PCC and Chief Constable exploring precept flexibility with the
Home Office and the considerable uncertainty with the Home Office’s process and
timescale produced.

The survey was sent to 60,000 residents on Herts Connected and publicised widely on
social media through the PCC’s Facebook and X account.1,795 Hertfordshire residents
responded to the online survey, a higher number of responses than last year at 1,289.
Most responses to the survey indicated agreement with the PCC’s proposal to increase
the council tax precept. A fuller summary of the survey results can be found in the
Appendix A.

2. Results of the Public Consultation
Q1: Do you agree with the proposal to increase the police precept by £15 for 2026/27 (for
an average Band D property)?

13%

~

® Agree 1224

19%
@ Disagree I
® Neutral 230

68%

Page 6



Q2: Hertfordshire residents currently pay one of the lowest police precepts compared to
other areas in England and Wales, about £32 per year below the average. This gap is the
equivalent of about 240 extra police officers. If the government allowed flexibility to
increase the precept by more than the current £15 cap, would you be willing to pay more
to support additional policing in the county?

18% -
® Agree 1023

@ Disagree 442

57%
® Neutral 330 25%

Of the 1,795 that responded to the first question, more than two thirds — 68% said they
would be prepared to pay £15 or equivalent increase in their council tax precept. 341
respondents (19%) said they disagreed and 13% had no preference. This indicates that a
clear majority of those who took part in the survey are willing to pay an increase in their
council tax precept. The 68% approval rate for the £15 increase is higher than the
approval rate for the £14 precept increase last year (62%). Similarly, over half (57%) of
respondents indicated they would support an increase of the precept by more than the
current £14 if it were so permitted by the government. As noted from the following
comments:

“Increase contribution to £50!”
“I think we should increase the budget by more than £15.”
“I would be prepared to pay more for policing and without merging forces.”

“l would be willing to pay more if this is going to result in police out on streets and
in neighbourhoods”

There was a significant proportion of respondents who gave explanations for why they
voted in favour of an increase in the open text box at the end of the survey. Many
respondents articulated the continued need to have a visible police presence on the
streets of Hertfordshire. Nearly 8% of respondents (141) noted how the visibility of police
patrolling their neighbourhood was important and therefore supported an increase in
funding if it meant greater visibility:

“There is a need for 18-24hr foot patrols in town centres. Visible foot patrols are a
real deterrence to antisocial behaviour’.

“I would just like to see more police presence in the community to deter
criminality”.

“Police visibility is good, as is their involvement in local events, eg street markets”

Page 7 °



“l think seeing police around is a very good thing in giving local people
confidence.”

Some respondents noted that they would be in favour of supporting the £15 increase, but

it was on a conditional basis. Most of the reasons cited related to respondents wanting
some reassurance that funding would be ring-fenced for neighbourhood patrols:

“l do not object to paying an increased police precept as long as the additional
funding is ring fenced ... If this can be demonstrated I will be happy to pay an
increased precept above the cap in the future.”

Add an additional £5 to the precept ring-fenced for neighbourhood patrols and I'm
in."

For those who were not in favour of the precept increase, respondents cited affordability
with references to financial strain saying they cannot afford the rise. Concerns include
fairness, pensioner impact, and frustration with “paying more for less” noted in the
following comments:

“l can’t afford continued 5% increases in everything!”

“If this means my council tax will be increased, | am against it—I live on a

pension... and cannot afford to pay any more.”

A fuller analysis of responses to the survey can be found in Appendix A.

3. Recommendation
It is recommended that Police and Crime Panel:

a) Notes the results of the consultation as outlined in this report.

Appendix A: Summary of public feedback
The top themes arising from the feedback from the 1,774 respondents who made

comment in the open text box included visible policing and patrols, roads, speeding and
traffic followed by crime priorities (burglary, car theft, drugs, ASB).

Page 8



Table 2: Themes arising from the survey responses

Top Themes in Free-Text Comments

Visible policing & patrols

Roads: speeding & traffic enforcement
Spending efficiency, pensions & bureaucracy
Positive sentiment about policing

Crime priorities (burglary, car theft, drugs)
ASB & community safety

Online speech / non-crime focus concerns
Rural policing & population growth

Local stations & public access

MNegative sentiment / distrust

Technology & surveillance tools

E-scooters & micro-mobility

Courts / sentencing [ prisons capacity
PCSOs vs officers

Vetting & professional standards

T
0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140
Mentions

Of the 8% (141 respondents) who mentioned visible policing, mentioned wanting more
police officers on the street, for police to undertake regular “drive throughs” for dead
end/remote roads, town centre presence; bikes/e-bikes for patrols; school adjacent peak
times; reassurance for older residents.

“There isn’t a visible presence of police on the streets at the moment.”

“I would love to see far more officers on patrol on foot and in vehicles.”

“l have not seen local police walking the streets for years.”

“The bigger the force the less likely for us to ever get foot patrols in our area.”

“I think seeing police around is a very good thing in giving local people
confidence.”

Other respondents noted that they wanted the precept to fund a shift from ‘desks to
streets’. There was a plea to fund automation of back-office tasks to release officer hours
and to best use technology and digital tools including ANPR, CCTV, drones and noise
cameras to automate evidence and free frontline time.

Road safety was also a key concern of respondents and one that was suggested should
be supported through additional funding through the precept. This included targeting
speeding, dangerous parking and anti-social driving and vehicle removal for persistent
offenders. As noted in the following comments:

Page 9



“We need to address the issue of traffic speed, which is excessive, the cost of
cameras would easily be paid for by the fines.”

“More police visibility and interventions would be welcome particularly regarding
speeding, red light infringements, aggressive and dangerous actions by too many
motorists who seemingly feel very safe to do so.”

“I would like to see police focus on the riding of electric bicycles on the
pavement... | would expect that the police need to investigate more crimes and
anti-social incidents.”

The third highest theme from the survey results related to spending efficiency, pensions
and bureaucracy. Many respondents were keen that any additional funding would be set
in the context of the police making efficiencies. This was noted in the following
comments:

“What price for an efficient and caring police force? The police are undervalued
and | am happy to support an increase”.

“If economies are made, | agree. More efforts are needed to cut out waste”.

“There should be fewer police doing admin and more visibility. The police should
be wholly funded by the government”.

Page 10



Appendix B: Press & Social Media

The precept survey was emailed directly to MPs, as well as all county, district and
borough councillors. It was promoted via two separate messages sent to the 60,000
residents signed up to receive OPCC messages via Herts Connected. The survey was
shared on the OPCC and Constabulary Facebook pages, garnering 2,326 views.
Meanwhile, equivalent posts on X collected 268 impressions.

The press release and survey were picked up widely across the local Hertfordshire
newspapers, raising public awareness:

e Watford Observer: Policing precept increase 'to protect officer numbers' |
Watford Observer

e Hemel Today: Residents encouraged to share views on how much taxpayers
should contribute towards policing in Hertfordshire

e Living Magazine: Commissioner asks residents' view on council tax precept -
Living Magazines

e Press Reader: PressReader.com - Digital Newspaper & Magazine Subscriptions

o Bishop Stortford Independent: Have your say on plans to increase
Hertfordshire residents’ policing bill by 5.6%

{3 Hertfordshire Police & Crime
'0 Commissioner in Hertfordshire.
14Jen - @
Did you know Hertfordshire has record police numbers
AND one of the lowest precepts in the country?

As your Police and Crime Commissioner, I'm about to

Hertfordshire Police & Crime wes  setthe council tax precept for local policing, that's the
Commissioner part of your council tax that funds our police.
5d - Q Should we raise it by £15 to keep up the fight against

crime?

There are only a few more days to let me know what
C 5 > o £ - What do you think?
you think is the right contl;lt‘)utlon local taxpayers © Share your views on the policing precept by taking
should make towards policing the county.... See more my quick survey below!
— :

& https://forms.office.com/e/CCK3gyVMRG

This survey will close at midnight on Sunday 25th
January.

#survey #her

Page 11


https://www.watfordobserver.co.uk/news/24903711.policing-precept-increase-to-protect-officer-numbers/
https://www.watfordobserver.co.uk/news/24903711.policing-precept-increase-to-protect-officer-numbers/
https://www.hemeltoday.co.uk/news/people/residents-encouraged-to-share-views-on-how-much-taxpayers-should-contribute-towards-policing-in-hertfordshire-5472737
https://www.hemeltoday.co.uk/news/people/residents-encouraged-to-share-views-on-how-much-taxpayers-should-contribute-towards-policing-in-hertfordshire-5472737
https://www.livingmags.info/commissioner-asks-residents-view-on-council-tax-precept/
https://www.livingmags.info/commissioner-asks-residents-view-on-council-tax-precept/
https://www.pressreader.com/uk/hertfordshire-mercury/20260115/281526527447569
https://www.bishopsstortfordindependent.co.uk/news/have-your-say-on-plans-to-increase-hertfordshire-residents-9449027/
https://www.bishopsstortfordindependent.co.uk/news/have-your-say-on-plans-to-increase-hertfordshire-residents-9449027/

This page is intentionally left blank



FOR HERTFORDSHIRE

Meeting Police & Crime Panel (PCP)
Date 5 February 2026
Title Precept proposal for 2026/27

Submitted By

The Police and Crime Commissioner for Hertfordshire (PCC)

Purpose of Report

To notify the Hertfordshire PCP of the PCC’s proposed precept

for 2026/27 and to enable it to review the proposal.

Recommendation

That the PCP endorses the PCC’s proposed precept increase of
£15.00 per annum (5.66%) bringing the total policing element of
Council Tax, for a Band D equivalent property, to £280.00 per

year.

Financial Implications

Included in the body of the report

Risk Implications

Failure to apply sound financial management principles over the
medium-term may threaten the organisation’s financial

sustainability.

Legal Implications

The PCC is a precepting authority for the purposes of the Local
Government Finance Act 1992 and must set the Council Tax
precept in accordance with the requirements of that Act as well as
the further requirements of the Police Reform and Social
Responsibility Act 2011.

Equalities Impacts

Sixty-six percent of chargeable dwellings fall within council tax
bands A to D, meaning they will incur an additional cost of £15 or
less per year'. Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) schemes are
available in every district to help both pensioners and working-age

individuals with their council tax payments.

Freedom of Information
Exemption
Section if Applicable

Not exempt under Freedom of Information Act 2000.

Page 13

1 Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/council-taxbase-2025-in-england - Published 6 November 2025



https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/council-taxbase-2025-in-england

Executive Summary

This report outlines the budget and financial impact of the 2026/27 precept option
on which the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) has consulted, namely, to
increase council tax by £15.00 per annum at Band D (5.66%)?. The table below
shows the calculation for the council tax requirement for 2026/27, in accordance
with Section 42A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

Table 1.

£m

Net Budget 2025/26 279.857
Standstill costs 17.087
Savings (6.886)
Investment 2.390
Net Budget 2026/27 292.448
Less Home Office Settlement Grants (155.245)
Less Additional Core Grant (4.314)
Less Collection Fund (surplus)/deficit (0.697)
Council Tax Precept Requirement for 2026/27 132.192
Estimated number of band D properties (No.) 472,110
2026/27 Band D Precept requirement £ p.a. 280.00
Current Band D Precept (2025/26) £ per annum 265.00
Increase required £ per annum 15.00
Increase required % per annum 5.66%

The resulting council tax bands are shown in the table below:

Table 2.

Proportion | 2025/26 | 2026/27 Precepté""ease
Band | of Band D | Charge | Charge

charge £ £ per per per per

annum month week day

A 6/9ths 176.67 186.67 10.00 0.83 0.19 0.03
B 7/9ths 206.11 217.78 11.67 0.97 0.22 0.03
C 8/9ths 235.56 248.89 13.33 1.11 0.26 0.04
D 9/9ths 265.00 280.00 15.00 1.25 0.29 0.04
E 11/9ths 323.89 342.22 18.33 1.53 0.35 0.05
F 13/9ths 382.78 404.44 21.66 1.81 0.42 0.06
G 15/9ths 441.67 466.67 25.00 2.08 0.48 0.07
H 18/9ths 530.00 560.00 30.00 2.50 0.58 0.08

2 An increase over £15.00 would require a local referendunP ag e 14

Page | 2



CONTENT Page

1. Commissioner’s foreword 4

2. Chief Constable’s foreword 7

3. Background 8

4, The funding context 9

5. Grant settlement 11

6. Council tax income 15

7. Standstill costs 22

8. Savings 25

9. Investment 27

10. Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner (OPCC) 29

11. Medium-term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 31
Appendix A | Revenue budget detail 35
Appendix B | Precept summary 36
12. Reserves Strategy 38

13. Section 25 Assurance on Budget Robustness & Reserves Adequacy 52

Page 15

Page | 3




1. Commissioner’s foreword

Keeping Hertfordshire safe, backing the police in the fight against crime and holding the
Constabulary to account for improvements in the service provided to the public have been

the key areas of focus as Police & Crime Commissioner over the last year.

The Police & Crime Plan published last year sets out a clear strategic direction for policing
and community safety in our county — proactive, visible policing, cracking down on
neighbourhood crime, protecting vulnerable people and ensuring offenders are held to

account and victims supported.

| am grateful for the hard work of our police officers, staff and volunteers day in day out to
fight crime, support victims and keep Hertfordshire safe. They have my backing and

admiration for the essential, but often unseen, work they do.

The last year has been one of considerable progress and while there is much more to do, |

am pleased with the direction of travel:

e More visible patrols — Operation Hotspot is on track to deliver 50,000 hours of
additional high visibility police patrols in our town centres and crime hotspots since
my election as PCC. In year 1, Operation Hotspot cut crime and anti-social

behaviour in our town centres by 14.5% and activity in year 2 is even stronger.

e More crime being solved — policing doesn’t solve enough crime and Hertfordshire
isn’t an exception. Solving more crime is a key objective in the Police & Crime Plan
and in the Chief Constable’s force plan. There is a long way to go, but in 2025 over
1,300 more crimes were solved than in 2024. In the last three months data,
Hertfordshire has finally moved out of the bottom quartile for solved rate.

o Faster response to the public — the national 999 call answering target is now being
consistently met with an average answer time of just a few seconds. 101 call

answering performance is also significantly improved.

e Progress against PEEL inspection — the crime recording ‘cause of concern’ has
been closed as a result of an overhaul of performance and good progress is being

made to resolve the Areas for Improvement from 2024.

Page 16
Page | 4



Safer Town Centres — concerted action in our town centres through the busy
summer and winter periods has delivered results, combining police operational
activity, PCC grant funding and collaboration with councils and business groups.
Hertfordshire Constabulary has started using Live Facial Recognition technology to

target wanted offenders.

In my strategic work as PCC, progress is being made on:

Retail crime prevention — partnership working with retailers is delivering improved
working relationships and collaboration. This year, | will be funding improvements in
reporting systems for retail crime, support for independent retailers and interventions

with prolific shoplifters.

Youth violence reduction — Hertfordshire is just one of three non-VRU areas
piloting prevention panels, intervening with young people who have come to police
attention to reduce the chances of them getting further involved in crime, violence
and ASB.

Domestic abuse perpetrators — the Chrysalis Centre has been re-commissioned to
a new model to improve triage and case co-ordination. The programme continues to
deliver positive outcomes to change the behaviour of perpetrators to reduce

reoffending.

The financial picture for policing continues to be challenging. | have been working closely

with the Chief Constable to ensure we have a clear plan to address the £6.9m savings

target for the financial year ahead.

Importantly, we are also funding a number of investment areas:

Increased supervisory capacity to drive the focus we want to see on proactive
policing, responding to the public and solving more crime.

Modern technology to reduce manual data handling and improve operational insight
and deployment of frontline resources.

Contribution to reserves to improve financial resilience and support the funding of

capital such as police cars, equipment and estates modernisation.

Page 17
Page | 5



Just over half (55%) of police funding in Hertfordshire comes from Government grant with
the remainder (45%) coming from the policing precept from the council tax. This year, the
Government grant settlement assumes that Police & Crime Commissioners will raise the

precept by £15 per year for a Band D household.

This would be an increase of 5.7% and will raise an additional £7m which, alongside

Government grant, means the gross budget will rise to £328.6m

As outlined in the precept consultation report, my proposal is supported by 68% of the

public who took part in my consultation, an increased share compared to the previous year.

Hertfordshire has the fifth lowest policing precept in England & Wales, being around £32 a
year lower than the average (Band D). While historic decisions dating back to the old Police
Authority to keep the precept lower have saved Hertfordshire taxpayers money, they also
mean that | am able to allocate around £14 million a year less to local policing than would

be the case if the precept was the national average.

With the Chief Constable, | have engaged with the Home Office to explore the potential for
Hertfordshire to have precept flexibility to close that gap, based on clear public support, and
provide tangible additional policing for Hertfordshire. Regrettably, the Home Office has
recently indicated that it is not supportive of that proposal.

| have given careful consideration to the financial challenges facing the Hertfordshire
policing budget and the need to maximise the resources the Chief Constable has to deliver
operational policing, as well as the cost-of-living pressures on taxpayers and the results of

the public consultation.

My proposal is that the policing precept should increase by the £15 per year (Band D) for
2026/27. As | expect most, if not all, Police & Crime Commissioners will reach a similar
conclusion in light of this year's Government settlement, | anticipate that Hertfordshire’s

policing precept will remain the fifth lowest nationally.

66% of chargeable dwellings in Hertfordshire are in council tax bands A-D so will pay the
£15 increase or less. There are Local Council Tax Support Schemes available in all districts

to provide financial assistance to both pensioners and low-income working age residents.

| formally recommend that the Police & Crime Panel approves the police precept proposal

for 2026/27.

Page 18
Page | 6



2. Chief Constable’s foreword

| have been Chief Constable for just over a year now, and in that time, I've witnessed the
huge amount of work that has been done to improve the force’s position on delivering our
core purpose of catching criminals and solving crime. | am not complacent however, as we

can, and will, do more in the coming year.

My team and | are pushing hard and striving for outstanding results, delivering the kind of
policing Hertfordshire residents tell me they want. We have started to see the green shoots
of that hard work, with much improved recording and solving of crime in recent months.
This will be increasingly felt across the county over the next year as more offenders are

identified and brought to justice and fewer residents fall victim to crime.

The financial landscape does continue to be challenging however, the provisional grant
settlement has presented us with some challenges and we’ve have been working closely
with the Police and Crime Commissioner to identify how we can meet a savings target of
£6.9m in the year ahead. The level of council tax increase proposed in this report is
therefore incredibly important if we are to continue on the journey to becoming a high

performing police force.

We will mark a key milestone in 2026/27 with the opening of our new, much needed, HQ
building. We have delivered this on time and within budget and these state-of-the-art
facilities will allow us to drive performance up further by bringing key operational teams

together in a modern, efficient and sustainable environment.

| have high hopes for 2026/27; if we receive the funding set out in this report, we will be
answering 999 calls promptly, responding to incidents swiftly, recording and solving even
more crime, protecting the vulnerable and bringing new technologies into the force that will
keep Hertfordshire Constabulary well on track to be the outstanding police force we all want
it to be.

Page 19
Page |7



3. Background

This report is submitted in accordance with Schedule 5 of the Police Reform and Social
Responsibility Act 2011 and the Police and Crime Panels (Precepts and Chief Constable
Appointments) Regulations 2012. Under these requirements, the Police and Crime
Commissioner (PCC) must notify the Panel of the proposed council tax precept by 1
February. The Panel must then review the proposal and provide its response, including any

decision to exercise its veto, by 8 February.

The purpose of this report is to present the Panel with the detailed revenue budget for
2026/27, together with the PCC’s recommended precept increase. In setting the budget, the
PCC is responsible for ensuring that the proposals are relevant to service needs, affordable
for taxpayers, and sustainable over the medium term. This includes ensuring that policing
priorities can be delivered effectively, and that financial risks are managed through

appropriate use of reserves, contingencies, and other mitigation measures.

The recommended precept level must be considered within the wider funding framework.
Police budgets are financed through a combination of government grants and locally raised
council tax, and both funding streams are affected by significant pressures. Changing crime
types, rising demand, increasingly complex investigations, and inflation, particularly in pay
and non-pay areas, continue to drive cost increases. These pressures must be balanced

carefully against available resources.

The precept decision is part of a four-year financial planning cycle rather than a single-year
assessment. This approach ensures the organisation can continue to support delivery of
the Police and Crime Plan and maintain operational resilience over time. It also provides
stability during a period of national uncertainty, including proposed changes to the future

governance model for policing.

The Panel is therefore asked to consider the proposed precept within this context and to

provide its statutory response to the Commissioner by 8 February 2026.

Page 20
Page | 8



4. The Funding Context

Despite an increase of £4.3m in the government’s core grant for 2026/27, this uplift does
not sufficiently offset the substantial cost pressures facing the Constabulary. These include
pay rises, higher business rates, and escalating utilities costs. Further detail regarding

these standstill pressures is provided in Section 7 of this report.

For 2026/27, the council tax referendum threshold has risen slightly to £15 for a Band D
property. Unlike previous years, the Home Office has introduced the option for Police and
Crime Commissioners (PCCs) to apply for Exceptional Financial Support (EFS), which
offers greater flexibility in terms of precept allocations. However, the initial EFS submission
deadline of 31 December 2025 and limited accompanying information led to ongoing

uncertainty for police organisations about their financial positions.

Subsequently, the Home Office clarified the Neighbourhood Policing Grant component of
the settlement, increasing the ring-fenced element by £2.5m and providing an additional
£0.760m in funding. The accompanying correspondence also confirmed the removal of
officer number constraints previously linked to Uplift Maintenance. This change enables
forces to manage officer numbers more efficiently within budgetary constraints by adjusting
recruitment throughout the year, thereby eliminating the “cliff-edge” risk, and allowing a

more flexible mix of officers and staff for Hertfordshire.

At the time of writing, no further announcements have been made, and none are anticipated
before the end of January. The EFS deadline was revised to 6 January 2026, giving
Hertfordshire the opportunity to submit a proposal, consistent with previous government
lobbying, for an additional £37, to be distributed equally over two years. This would bring
the precept in line with the England and Wales average and enable significant further

investment.

It should be noted that the outcome of this submission is not expected before the Police

and Crime Panel meeting. Early indications suggest that approval is unlikely.

Taking into account the increased core grant and assuming the PCC uses the full flexibility
allowed for the precept, the growth in available funding sources for the Constabulary still
falls short of the increased cost base. Consequently, the Constabulary will be required to
identify savings of £6.9m in 2026/27, as detailed in Section 8, a figure comparable to the

previous year’s target of £7.2m, of which £2.6m (36%) was not achieved.

Page 21
Page | 9



The current budget has been developed against a backdrop of uncertainty, both from the
lack of detail in the provisional settlement and from potential major structural changes.
These include the announced abolition of the PCC in 20283, to be replaced by either a
Mayoral or Policing Board model, and government consideration of merging the current 43
police forces in England and Wales into 12 to 15 regional forces*. Such changes would

have a significant impact on the Constabulary.

3 Police and crime commissioners to be scrapped - GOV.UK
4 Written statements - Written questions, anspg'_n;mjdgtgtements - UK Parliament

Page | 10


https://www.gov.uk/government/news/police-and-crime-commissioners-to-be-scrapped
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2025-12-18/hcws1216

5. Grant Settlement

The Provisional Police Funding Settlement for 2026/27 was announced on 18 December
2025 by the Minister for Policing and Crime. Details can be found on the Parliament website
here. Unlike in previous years, no consultation period accompanied the announcement, and
only limited detail was provided. As a result, it is not yet clear which elements of earlier
grants have been consolidated into the initial single settlement figure of £181.4m; a year-
on-year increase of £6.1m. The Home Office subsequently announced an additional

allocation of £0.8m in grant funding associated with the Neighbourhood Policing Grant®.
a. Core Grant® - £176.595m (£145.017m in 2025/26)

In the meantime, Table 3 summarises the main components of the prior year’s grant
settlement and the provisional allocations for 2026/27. The settlement provides a net cash
increase of £6.8m, resulting in total grant funding of £182.2m for Hertfordshire. Further
information is expected in the final settlement, due in late January 2026, following

publication of the Government’s police reform white paper.

Table 3.

2025/26 2026/27

Element
£m £m

Core grant 145.017
Council tax legacy grant 10.228
Ad(ljltlonal .recrwtment top-up 1.284 176.595
Officer maintenance grant 5.342
Pension 6.444
NIC 3.966
Grants sub-total 172.281 176.595
Neighbourhood policing 3.052 5.582
Total grants 175.333 182.177
Change on previous year (£m) 5173 6.844
Change on previous year (%) 3.45% 3.90%

Early analysis shows that Hertfordshire receives the 15th highest percentage increase out
of the 43 police forces, at 3.5%. By comparison, Cambridgeshire receives the largest
increase (4.4%), largely because it does not participate in the Government’s

Neighbourhood Policing Guarantee scheme.

5 Hertfordshire’s 1.53% share of extra £50.0m
6 No changes to the Police Funding Formula are anticipated inlma@e 23
Page | 11


https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2025-12-18/hcws1216

However, despite recent funding increases, particularly those linked to the Police Uplift
Programme, Hertfordshire’s overall funding has not kept pace with inflation since 2010.
When adjusted for CPI, the force’s real-terms funding position is £32.2m lower than in

2010/11 as illustrated below. This long-term erosion continues to place pressure on the

Constabulary’s ability to meet rising demand and operating costs.

Graph 1.

Hertfordshire Historical Total Funding Comparison
2010/11 to 2026/27 324.6

320

= Net Budget
310 £32.2m

(11.0%)

o CPI-Linked Funding

£ Millions

L-0102
(45121114
£zioe
vi-€ioe
Si-¥i0e
91-5102
L1-9102
81-L102
61-8102
0Z-6102
12-020Z
[4 A YA 14
£2-720¢
vZ-€20¢
SZ-¥Z0eT
9Z-520¢
12-9202

Financial Year

b. Council Tax Legacy Grant - £ETBCm (£10.228m in 2025/26)

This grant element relates to the government initiatives that compensated policing bodies
for choosing not to increase council tax in specific years. Between 2013/14 and 2015/16,
forces that froze their precept received a council tax freeze grant, which has since been
consolidated into the ongoing Council Tax Legacy Grant. It is assumed that this is included

in the £176.6m core grant figure.
c. Additional Recruitment Top-Up Grant - £TBCm (£1.284m in 2025/26)

This grant is given to forces that have hired more officers than their initial recruitment goal,
for example, Hertfordshire employed 24 officers beyond its target of 2,381. It is expected

that this amount is included within the £176.6m non-specific core grant.

Page 24
Page | 12



d. Officer Maintenance Grant - £TBCm (£5.342m in 2025/26)

The Police Officer Maintenance grant provided a ringfenced Home Office funding to help

maintain police officer numbers at the required headcount. The Home Office has confirmed
that this grant is being removed because it was limiting workforce flexibility. From 2026/27 it
will be replaced with a Neighbourhood Policing target, giving forces more freedom to shape

their workforce while still prioritising frontline visibility.
e. Police Officer Pension Grant - £TBCm (£6.444m in 2025/26)

The Police Pension Fund grant helps cover increased employer contributions for police
pensions, which went up from 31.0% to 35.3% following the latest national review. It is

assumed these costs are already included in the £176.6m of non-specific core grant.
f. National Insurance increase - £TBCm (£3.966m in 2025/26)

The new grant component for 2025/26 was introduced to offset the rise in employer’s
National Insurance contributions to 15% starting from 6 April 2025, as well as the reduction
of the secondary threshold to £5,000. It is presumed that this is part of the £176.6m in non-
specific core grants.

g. Neighbourhood Policing Guarantee — £5.582m (£3.052m in 2025/26)

The Home Office allocated new funding to Hertfordshire to facilitate the transfer of
additional police officers into neighbourhood policing roles from 2025/26. This initiative is
part of the Government’s national strategy to increase by 13,000 the number of policing
personnel undertaking neighbourhood policing across England and Wales over four years,
with the objectives of enhancing visible policing and strengthening public confidence. Such
initiatives are consistent with the direction in the Hertfordshire Police & Crime Plan. The
grant is designed to fund growth in neighbourhood policing roles and support the release of
officers from other functions. For Hertfordshire this is a further 27 FTE transferred into

neighbourhood policing above the Hertfordshire baseline as at 31 March 2026.
h. Capital Grant

No grant has been provided to forces for capital funding.

Page 25
Page | 13



i. Ministry of Justice (MoJ) Grants

Besides the Home Office funding described earlier, the PCC receives grants from the

Ministry of Justice (MoJ) to commission victims’ services. For 2026/27, this grant has been

set at £2.356m and includes the following components:

Table 4.
Y-on-Y | Y-on-Y
2025/26 | 2026/27
Grant element Change | Change
£m £m £m %
Victims Services Core budget 1.325 1.351 0.026 2.0
ISVA’/ IDVA® Baseline Funding #1
ISVA / IDVA Additional Funding #2
0.985 1.005 0.020 2.0
ISVA / IDVA Additional Funding #3
Domestic Violence/Sexual Violence services
Total funding 2.310 2.356° 0.046 2.0

7 Independent Sexual Violence Advisor
8 Independent Domestic Violence Advisor
° The 2027/28 allocation has been also confirmed as £2.0@age 26

Page | 14



6. Council Tax income

On 17 December 2025, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

(MHCLG) released the provisional council tax limits'%'", which outline the policing council

tax referendum principles, specifically, a £15.00 limit for a typical Band D property. As

previously noted, an application has been submitted requesting increased flexibility up to

£37.00, and we are currently awaiting the outcome.

a. Taxbase

The calculation of the council tax base is conducted by billing authorities, who convert all

properties to their Band D equivalents and apply established assumptions related to

discounts and expected collection rates. According to the final estimates submitted by the

ten billing authorities, the police council tax base is anticipated to grow by 0.6%, resulting in

an estimated additional income of £0.753m2. The table below presents a detailed

breakdown of these projections for each of the ten billing authorities.

TaIE’II(::"tfordshire Boroughs & Districts’ Taxbase
Tax Base | Tax Base Change
Billing Authority 2025/26 2026/27 increase/(decrease)
No. No. No. %
Broxbourne Borough Council 36,636.0 36,822.6 186.6 0.5%
Dacorum Borough Council 60,009.4 60,641.8 632.4 1.1%
East Herts District Council 65,314.0 65,819.2 505.1 0.8%
Hertsmere Borough Council 43,331.4 43,1211 (210.3) (0.5%)
North Herts District Council 50,836.3 51,529.0 692.7 1.4%
St Albans District Council 64,632.2 64,967.7 335.5 0.5%
Stevenage Borough Council 28,571.8 28,884.5 312.7 1.1%
Three Rivers District Council 40,038.9 40,124.8 85.9 0.2%
Watford Borough Council 35,648.3 35,687.7 39.4 0.1%
Welwyn Hatfield District Council | 44,250.4 44.511.4 261.0 0.6%
TOTAL 469,268.7 | 472,109.8 | 2,841.0 0.6%

10 Provisional local government finance settlement 2026 to 2027 - GOV.UK

11

Referendums Relating to Council Tax Increases (Principles) (England) Report 2026 to 2027: draft - GOV.UK

125 841 x £265

Page 27

Page | 15


https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-2026-to-2027/provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-2026-to-2027
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/referendums-relating-to-council-tax-increases-principles-england-report-2026-to-2027-draft

Since 2022/23, Hertfordshire’s council tax base has consistently stayed below the national
average, with a similarly modest increase of just 0.6% in 2026/27. This remains lower than

the national average growth rate of 0.9%.

Billing authorities across Hertfordshire have pointed to several reasons for this slower

growth:

e Reduced council tax collection rates
e Higher costs due to greater participation in Local Council Tax Support schemes

e Slower-than-expected housing development

The following graph compares changes in Hertfordshire’s actual tax base to the national

average for England and includes projections for the next three years.

Graph 2
Taxbase Changes
10.00%
8.00%
L]
g' 6.00%
o R 0
£
(8]
g,' 4.00%
S
[=]
§ 2.00%
[F]
I Illll.lll_- e

OBR Estimate -

-2.00% November 2025

-4.00%
15/16  1e/17  17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 2122 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28 28/29 29/30

W Herts 163% 1.52% 1.74% 1.18% 1.26% 1.34% -0.58% 1.78% 1.34% 0.54% 0.50% 061% 0.70% 0.70% 0.70%
MEngland 10.20% 0.70% 0.90% 1.00% 0.70% 0.10% -3.20% 1.80% 1.50% 1.30% 1.00% 0.90% 1.40% 1.20% 1.10%

Year

Page 28
Page | 16



The following summarises the additional revenue generated from the forecast change to the

tax base:

Table 6.
Taxbase Calculation Amount
Estimated number of band D properties — 2026/27 472,110
Less Number of band D properties — 2025/26 469,269
Increase in tax base properties 2,841
Band D council tax rate £265.00
Increased tax base income £0.753m

b. Collection fund

The collection fund accounts for annual variances between projected and actual council tax
receipts, attributed to fluctuations in collection rates and changes in the tax base. The final
figures below™ indicate a net year-on-year increase of approximately £0.442m for 2026/27.

The accompanying table illustrates the overall change between the respective years.

Table 7.

Draft Collection Fund Surplus/(Deficit) relating to the PCC

Billing Authority 202£5/26 202::5/27 Cha£nge

Broxbourne Borough Council (110,807.67) (15,190.15) 95,617.52
Dacorum Borough Council 25,248.37 144,061.57 118,813.20
East Herts District Council 63,515.70 68,703.00 5,187.30
Hertsmere Borough Council 34,282.00 88,116.00 53,834.00
North Herts District Council 124,553.18 223,436.00 98,882.82
St Albans District Council 460,508.00 244,244.00 | (216,264.00)
Stevenage Borough Council (205,593.15) 252,714.23 458,307.38
Three Rivers District Council (118,853.00) (247,819.34) | (128,966.34)
Watford Borough Council (1,178.47) (771.46) 407.01
Welwyn Hatfield District Council (16,482.54) (60,555.92) (44,073.38)
TOTAL 255,192.42 696,937.93 441,745.51

13 Billing authorities (districts) must notify Precepting Authorities (PCC & HCC) of relevant information no later than seven working days
after 15 January 2026, in accordance with Regulations 10(@-&@@ 12(9 of The Local Authorities (Funds) (England) Regulations 1992

Page | 17



https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1992/2428/contents/made

c. Band D Council Tax

The proposed Band D council tax policing precept for 2026/27 is £280.00, representing an
increase of £15.00 or 5.66% compared to the figure for 2025/26. In relation to the EFS
application, notification from the Home Office regarding whether the request for additional
flexibility up to £37.00 (equating to £18.50 per year and a total precept of £298.50 in
2026/27) will be approved by MHCLG is expected by the end of January. The graph below
illustrates the composition of chargeable dwellings in Hertfordshire relative to the average

across England™.

Graph 3
Percentage of dwellings per Council Tax banding
Hertfordshirev England Average Comparison
30.00% 28.29
25.0%
25.00% 23.7%
22.0%

20.00% 19.5%
a
Eﬂ 15.7% 15.3%
S 15.00%
[S]
&
- 10.4%

i 9.8%
10.00% 9.3%
8.0%
5.2%
5.00% 3.5%
2.4%
1.4%
]
0.00% -
Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H

Council Tax Band

England M HertsTotal

As indicated above, 66.0%'° of properties in Hertfordshire fall within Bands A to D and will
therefore pay no more than £280.00 for the policing component of their council tax.

14 Council Taxbase: Local authority level data for 2025 - October 2025

15 England A to D is 80.9% Page 30

Page | 18


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/690b84cf88a98da87e292375/Local_Authority_Dropdown_2025.xlsx

T¢ obed

As shown in the graph below, council tax will account for 45.2% 16 of total funding in 2026/27, reflecting an overall shift in funding

sources over time. This represents an 11.8% change since 2014/15, with less reliance on government grants and a greater emphasis

on locally determined precepts'”.

60.0%

Graph 4
Historical Funding Split

2026/27 54.8%

2025/26 53.5%

2024/25 56.2%

2023/24 56.2%

2022/23 58.0%

2021/22 58.3%

2020/21 58.4%

2019/20 58.4%

2018/19 61.2%

2017/18 63.3%

2016/17 64.8%

2015/16 65.0%

2014/15 66.6%

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0%
B Govt Grant M Precept

16

National average 40% for the precept element ranging from 21% (Northumbria) to 55% (Surrey).

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

1

8

7 Hertfordshire’s precept was frozen between 13/14 and 15/16 and reduced in 16/17 and was compensated with council tax freeze grant of £8.2m (13/14), £8.9m (14/15) and then £10.2m from 15/16 onwards.

Page | 19



Hertfordshire’s Band D council tax precept for 2025/26 is £265.00, which is the fifth lowest in the country®. This amount is £31.29 (or

10.5%) less than the average precept of £296.29 set by the 43 precepting forces across England and Wales'®. The graph below

illustrates how Hertfordshire’s precept compares to others for 2025/26.

Graph 5
Comparison of Policing Precept Levels - England & Wales - 2025/26
372.20
296.29
285.89
265.00
Q
«Q
@
w
N
b — oy oy
SESSEEFE ST FF S FSSFEFSSESEFFEFESE
FFTEEE S eSS TS SERFEEEESFEEEFESS LTSS
£F 8.0 §§§§§é°$§§§ SSEFELSTSS FSESFO SE F
Sy &= T I&F Fo Lo oFf 5SS S & & € 5
T FF o @ F o g s F & o= ~ & EF S Q ]
£ s S = ~ o o E &~ £ 5.6
] o & = = © S <o
@ Q9 4 =
&
Policing Area
Actual Council Tax 2025-26 e England Average — EEW Average excl. London — \Nales Average

18 Hertfordshire’s position may fall if any of the four forces with lower precept levels receive additional precept flexibility and Hertfordshire does not.

19 Excludes City of London which receives a precept grant in lieu of their inability to precept

400.00

350.00

300.00

250.00

150.00

100.00

50.00

£ Precept perannum

Page | 20



d. Overall Increase in Council Tax Income

The net effect of tax base, collection fund surplus and the precept increase set-

out above results in a £8.277m increase in council tax income for 2026/27.

Table 8.
2026/27

Council Tax Element 20§5m126 £m

@£15
Precept increase 6.573 7.082
Tax base increase 0.597 0.753
Collection fund change 0.211 0.442
Total Council Tax increase 7.381 8.277

Further detail of the estimated precept to be received from the individual billing authorities

can be found in Appendix B.

Page 33

Page | 21



7. Standstill Costs
Standstill budget pressures are those costs increases that are required to deliver the same

level of service as in the current financial year. The standstill budget requirement for
2026/27 totals £17.087m and comprises the following:

Table 9.
Standstill Costs 2026/27
m
Officer Pay 7.613
Staff Pay 3.164
Prior Year savings 2.550
Non-Pay 3.263
Capital Financing 2.527
Specific Grants (2.530)
Reserves replenishment 0.500
Total 17.087

a. Police Officer pay costs — £7.613m

Police Officer Pay Award 2025/26 - This was originally budgeted as a 2.5% pay rise starting
from 1 September 2025. However, the final increase was set at 4.2% for all ranks and
spinal points, leading to an additional cost of £4.177m in 2026/27.

Police Officer Pay Award 2026/27 — It is assumed that a 3.0% pay award will be issued
from 1 September 2026, amounting to an estimated cost of £2.806m in 2026/27. Any
increase above this rate will likely require a revision of the workforce plan to limit officer
recruitment, where allowed by grant restrictions, unless the Home Office provides additional

funding as it has over the past two years.

Average Police Officer Pay — The average police pay in Hertfordshire is expected to rise by
£0.500m, as more police constables recruited through the uplift program advance along the
pay scales. This trend is causing a projected overspend against police pay budgets for
2025/26.

Officer Overtime - an increase of £0.130m is expected in 2026/27 due to the full-year

impact of higher pay rises in 2025/26 and an assumed 3.0% pay award for 2026/27.
b. Police Staff pay costs — £3.164m

Police Staff pay award 2025/26 - This was originally budgeted as a 2.5% pay rise starting
from 1 September 2025. However, the final increase was set at 4.2% for all staff spinal
points, leading to an additional cost of £1.537m in 2026/27.

Page 34 Page | 22



Police Staff pay award 2026/27 — It is assumed that a 3.0% pay award will be issued from 1
September 2026, amounting to an estimated cost of £2.344m in 2026/27. Any increase
above this rate will likely require a revision of the workforce plan to limit recruitment or
increase compulsory redundancies unless the Home Office is forthcoming with additional

funding.

Police Staff pension contribution rate - the most recent actuarial review has resulted in a
1.8% decrease in the employer’s contribution rate for police staff pensions, bringing it down
to 15.7%. This adjustment is expected to save approximately £1.050m in police staff pay.

Average Police Staff Pay — The average police pay in Hertfordshire is expected to rise by
£0.300m, as staff advance through the pay scales. This trend is causing a projected

overspend against police pay budgets for 2025/26.

Staff Overtime - an increase of £0.033m is expected in 2026/27 due to the full-year impact
of the higher pay rise in 2025/26 and an assumed 3.0% pay award for 2026/27.

c. Prior year savings - £2.550m

The 2025/26 budget established a savings target of £7.193m; however, the savings
associated with reducing the vacancy factor and implementing Workforce Mix/De-

civilianisation fell short by £1.054m and £1.496m, respectively.
d. Non-Pay - £3.263m

Provision has been made in the MTFS for general inflation in line with the latest OBR
forecasts for CPI. For 2026/27 the budget includes an allowance for 3.0% general inflation
across delegated non-pay budgets at a cost of £1.549m, plus a further £1.714m will be held

centrally to target areas of pressure during 2026/27.

e. Capital Financing and HQ Redevelopment costs - £2.527m

The PCC faces cost pressures funding the capital programme, including HQ
redevelopment, ICT upgrades, and vehicle fleet investment. External borrowing is expected
to rise, increasing interest costs by £1.113m. The Minimum Revenue Provision will also

increase by £1.414m due to capital financing requirements.
f. Specific Grants — £2.530m additional income

This allocation of additional funding pertains to the Neighbourhood Policing Guarantee,
under which the Home Office expects police forces to prioritise the redeployment of officers

from back-office roles or positions where warranted officers are not essential.

Page 35 Page | 23



Hertfordshire’s preliminary allocation for anticipated national growth in Year 2 of the
Programme is 27, although final force-level targets will be announced in due course.

g. Reserves Replenishment - £0.500m

The organisation’s reserves have decreased by 81% from their peak in 2014/15, with the
current balance now at 3.2% of the net budget. This diminished level does not offer
adequate financial resilience, and continued depletion is unsustainable, especially given the
anticipated substantial one-off expenditure required for significant police staff redundancy
costs, estimated at approximately £7.5m over the next two years, in the absence of
available capital receipts. Consequently, a strategy for the gradual restoration of reserve
levels has been incorporated into the Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), aiming to
return reserves to the thresholds recommended by the Chief Finance Officer.

Page 36 Page | 24



8. Savings

The savings requirement for 2026/27 totals £6.886m and the following areas have been
identified.

Table 10.
2026/27
£m

TVP Reductions (0.642)
Police Staff savings (5.038)
Full-year effect of Police Staff savings in 2025/26 (1.000)
Fleet cost reduction (0.206)
Total (6.886)

Detail of each saving proposal is set out below:
a. Removal of targeted variable payments (TVPs) - £0.642m

The constabulary has made TVPs to Chief Superintendents and Superintendents for a few
years. The payments are intended to recognise the added responsibilities held by some
officers compared to their peers. The value differs from role to role and not all officers in

superintending ranks receive a TVP.

The constabulary also introduced detective TVPs a couple of years ago, partly as a
response to a recruitment campaign by the Metropolitan Police targeting detectives, partly

to address the relatively low number of accredited detectives in the force.

But the conditions that gave rise to both payments have changed over the last year or so;
basic pay for superintending ranks has increased over and above cost of living pay-rises

and the constabulary has made good progress in recruiting and retaining detectives.

In light of the changing circumstances, the constabulary reduced TVPs to all superintending
ranks and some detective roles from 15t April 2025, and this saving is the removal of the
remaining 50% from 15t April 2026.

b. Police Staff savings - £5.038m

An organisation-wide savings exercise is underway, with an anticipated reduction in police
staff numbers in Hertfordshire-only units through workforce reorganisation. In addition, the
Beds, Cambs and Herts (BCH) collaboration has been assigned a £3.000m savings target
for the upcoming year, of which Hertfordshire’s share is £1.320m, with most of these

savings anticipated to be achieved through support services.

Page 37 Page | 25



c. Full-year effect of Police Staff savings in 2025/26 - £1.000m

The Constabulary conducted a voluntary redundancy programme in July 2025, but the final
results were not confirmed until later that year. Consequently, the savings from over 50 staff
leaving were not fully realised within the year, so the remaining benefits will be seen in
2026/27.

d. Reduction in fleet costs - £0.206m

Effective 1 April 2026, the Constabulary will withdraw from the Chiltern Transport
Consortium. This transition is expected to enhance efficiency through streamlined fleet
management, improved cost transparency, and reduced vehicle downtime, while supporting
more responsive and effective service delivery, all with the goal of a modest cost reduction

relative to the current arrangement.

Page 38 Page | 26



9. Investment

A total of £2.390m has been earmarked for investment in the following areas during
2026/27.

Table 11.

2026/27
£m
Senior Officer Restructure 1.200
Palantir Al Solutions 1.040
Tasking 0.150
Total 2.390

a. Senior Officer Restructure - £1.200m

An investment of £1.200m is required to support the marginal cost of increasing supervisory
capacity by 14 FTE. This uplift, primarily adding Inspector roles alongside additional
Superintendent and Chief Superintendent posts, follows a detailed organisational review
carried out by senior officers. The enhanced supervisory structure will strengthen frontline
leadership, improve operational control, and ensure more effective oversight of
high-demand response functions, thereby supporting the Constabulary’s ability to maintain

service performance and resilience amid growing operational pressures.

b. Palantir Al Solutions - £1.040m

The Constabulary intends to invest £0.750m in Palantir Technologies’ NECTAR platform, a
national policing data-integration and analytics capability designed to modernise and
replace multiple legacy systems, which was initially launched with Bedfordshire Police.
NECTAR will provide the Constabulary with a secure, unified environment for searching,
analysing, and sharing operational data, significantly improving intelligence development,
operational insight, and evidence-based decision-making. In parallel, the Constabulary
proposes an additional £0.290m investment in Palantir's Force Control Room (FCR)
solution, which will enhance real-time situational awareness and call-handling efficiency by
integrating live incident, resource, and risk information into a single operational picture.
Together, these capabilities will reduce manual demand, strengthen data quality, support
more effective deployment of frontline resources, and deliver measurable performance and
productivity benefits across core policing functions. While at the same time critical for the

delivery of the savings target in 2026/27.

Page 39 Page | 27



c. Tasking Overtime budget - £0.150m

This investment will create additional budget headroom, separate from existing overtime
budgets, establishing a centrally held reserve that senior officers can use to support

targeted proactive policing operations.

Page 40 Page | 28



10. Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner (OPCC)

For 2026/27, the PCC’s total net revenue budget remains at £4.140m, with £2.574m
allocated to the Office of the PCC. This amounts to 0.78%2° of Hertfordshire police’s gross

budget or 0.88%2" of its net budget, both figures are below the Government guideline that

PCC running costs should stay under 1.00% of overall policing budget.

Table 12

2025/26 2026/27 Change
Breakdown £000 £000 £000
OPCC 2.642 2.450 (0.192)
Criminal Justice Board (CJB) 0.124 0.124 0.000
Victims Services 2.550 2.596 0.046
Road Safety expenditure 0.350 0.350 0.000
PCC Grants 1.134 1.326 0.192
PCC Gross Budget 6.800 6.846 0.046
Road Safety funding (0.350) (0.350) 0.000
Ministry of Justice Grant Income (2.310) (2.356) (0.046)
PCC Net Budget 4.140 4.140 0.000

A recent OPCC restructure has reduced the number of posts in the office, achieving both

cashable savings and cost avoidance. The savings achieved have helped offset inflationary

and pay rise costs in the OPCC. The net effect means that the OPCC core budget can be

reduced by £0.192m. This has been transferred to the PCC’s Grants budget for projects

supporting the Police & Crime Plan.

The pay costs for the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) and the
Criminal Justice Board (CJB) are expected to increase in the upcoming financial year. This
is primarily due to a national pay rise of 4.2% agreed from September 2025, followed by an
anticipated further increase of 3.0% in September 2026. Collectively, these adjustments will
result in an overall increase of approximately £0.083m in pay costs. It is important to
highlight that these projected cost increases have already been incorporated within the
standstill costs outlined elsewhere in this report. Crucially, even after factoring in these
adjustments are the overall cost of the OPCC is still anticipated to remain below the

established 1% limit referenced above.

20 2026/27 Gross budget £328.6m
21 2026/27 Net budget £292.4m

Page 41 Page | 29



The Ministry of Justice grant has increased by £0.046m, which has been balanced by a
corresponding increase in the cost of Victims Services commissioned through the Police

and Crime Commissioner.

Page 42 Page | 30



11.Medium-term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

The medium-term financial strategy is based on several key assumptions covering likely

funding levels, inflationary increases, and expenditure items:

a) That there is no change in the Police Funding formula over the medium term.

b) 3.0% per annum pay award is applied to all officers and police staff in 2026 and 2.5%
from 2027 onwards. Payable from 1 September each year.

c) The cost of annual increment growth for both police officers and police staff will exceed
the savings from the drop in increments through turnover, by circa £0.500m and
£0.300m each year, respectively.

d) Non-Pay inflation will be 3.0% in 2026/27 and will then decrease to 2.0% by 2027/28.

e) The rates of employer’s national insurance employer contributions remain the same as
those for 2026/27 across the MTFS. i.e. will continue to reflect the increase in rate and
decrease in threshold introduced from April 2025 in the Autumn budget.

f) The employer superannuation contributions rate remains the same for the Police
Pension Scheme across the MTFS and that the LGPS rate will remain at the reduced
level arising from the March 2025 valuation set out in Section 7 above, throughout the
MTFS.

g) An increase in the Council Tax Base of 0.6% in 2026/27 and 0.7% per annum
thereafter.

h) That the Council Tax collection fund will be in surplus by £0.716m in 2026/27 and that
the surplus will increase by £0.050m each year thereafter.

i) That the precept will increase by £15 in 2026/27 and by £14 for each year of the MTFS
thereafter.

The table below summaries the assumptions listed above.

Table 13

Budget element 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30

Pay Awards % 3.0 2.5 2.5 2.5

Non-Pay Inflation % 3.0 2.0 2.0 2.0

Core Grant % 3.93 3.26 1.71 1.71

Taxbase % 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.7

Collection fund surplus £m 0.716 0.766 0.816 0.866

Min Precept increase £ 15.00 14.00 14.00 14.00
Page 43 Page | 31




The assumed changes in government grant levels over the medium-term are set below.

Table 14

2026/27 | 2027/28 | 2028/29 | 2029/30
Grant element
£m £m £m £m

Core Grant (149.331) | (154.529) | (157.350) | (160.219)
Council Tax Legacy Grant (10.228) | (10.228) | (10.228)| (10.228)
Total (159.559) | (164.757) | (167.578) | (170.447)
Change on previous year (£m) (5.198) (2.821) (2.869)
Change on previous year (%) 3.26% 1.71% 1.71%

The standstill budget requirements for the period to 2029/30 totals £51.8m and comprises

the following:
Table 15
. 2026/27 | 2027/28 | 2028/29 | 2029/30 Total

Standstill Costs £m £m £m £m £m
Officer Pay 7.613 5.156 4.928 5.055 22.752
Staff Pay 3.164 2.747 2.629 2.699 11.239
2025/26 under achieve savings 2.550 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.550
Non-Pay 3.263 2.018 2.107 2.114 9.502
Capital Financing 2.527 4.669 1.443 | (0.942) 7.697
Specific Grants (2.530) 0.000 0.000 0.000 | (2.530)
Reserves 0.500 1.900 | (1.556) 0.774 1.618
Total 17.087 16.490 9.551 9.700 52.828

The medium-term financial strategy reflecting the assumptions outlined in Table 13 above

is shown in the table below.

Table 16

Budget Element 20§6m/27 20§7m/28 20£2:§:29 20£2:g430 T£°rtna|

Standstill costs 17.087 16.490 9.551 9.700 52.828
Core Grant (4.314) (5.198) (2.821) (2.869) | (15.202)
Taxbase & Collection Fund (1.195) (0.975) (1.028) (1.082) (4.280)
Precept increase (7.082) (6.656) (6.702) (6.749) | (27.189)
Investment 2.390 1.000 1.000 1.000 5.390
Budget Gap (6.886) (4.661) 0.000 0.000 | (11.547)

The table above shows the medium-term financial strategy based upon high level spending

and income assumptions and the Autumn Budget statement. The plan sets out a budget

gap of £6.886m in 2026/27 and £11.547m by 2029/30.

Page 44

Page | 32




The table below sets out the proposed approach to closing the incremental budget gap over
the medium term.

Table 17
2026/27 | 2027/28 | 2028/29 | 2029/30 Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Budget Gap (post investment) 6.886 4.661 0.000 0.000 11.547
TVP Reductions (0.642) 0.000 0.000 0.000 | (0.642)
Police Staff savings (5.038) | (2.848) 0.000 0.000 | (7.855)
Police Staff savings in 2025/26 (1.000) 0.000 0.000 0.000 | (1.000)
Fleet cost reduction (0.206) (0.206) 0.000 0.000 (0.412)
Reduction in Estates Costs 0.000 (1.638) 0.000 0.000 (1.638)
Net Annual Budget Gap 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Cumulative Budget Gap 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

2026/27 and beyond savings

In addition to the identified savings for 2026/27 detailed in Section 8, the following areas
have been earmarked for future planned savings:

TVP Reductions: £0.642m. This reflects the completion of the phased removal of the

TVP allowance for detectives during 2026/27.

Police Staff Savings: £7.855m. A reduction of approximately 135 police staff posts over

the next two financial years.

Prior-year Police Staff Savings: £1.000m. This comprises the remaining benefit from the

voluntary redundancy programme undertaken in 2025/26.

Fleet: £0.412m. Analysis of telematics data suggests that the vehicle fleet can be

reduced by around 10% through increased utilisation, which will also affect the fleet

renewal element of the capital programme.

Estates: £1.638m. Anticipated savings represent a 15% reduction in estate running

costs, achieved through estate rationalisation. This will leverage the efficiencies offered

by the new HQ building, enabling relocation and potential disposal of surplus sites,

subject to the Estates Strategy, and the adoption of more energy-efficient practices.

Page 45

Page | 33




The main sensitivities that may affect the assumptions and the impact of a 1% variance are
shown in the table below.

Table 18
1% Variance

Variable (Em)

(+/-)
Police Pay 0.966
PCSO/Police Staff Pay 0.506
Utilities 0.268
Fuel 0.100
Supplies and Services 0.303
Police Grant (1.552)
Precept 1.251
Tax Base 1.244

Based on the above table the main risks to the force are uncertainties in the funding
settlement from central government, the PCC precept decision, any pay award to officers
and staff above the 3.0% increase assumed.

Risks not included in the table above are those associated with national projects being
delayed which may have a financial implication on the PCC and the Chief Constable, for
example, the Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme (ESMCP). Any
unplanned financial implications of national projects these will be dealt with through annual

budget setting process.

Page 46 Page | 34



Appendix A - Revenue Budget Detail??

The 2026/27 gross to net budget and its prior year comparator are shown below:

Table 19
Gross to Net Budget 20§5m126 202::27
Gross Budget 313.9 328.6
Fees & Charges (8.3) (8.4)
Other Grants (24.8) (27.4)
Local Authority PCSO funding (0.4) (0.4)
Reserves (0.5) 0.0
Net Budget 279.9 292.4

A high-level subjective analysis of the changes in the net budget is shown below:

Table 20

Expenditure type 202:‘::26 20§6m/27 Ch:r:ge Chs/?ge
Police Officer Pay 165.7 173.7 8.0 4.8
Police Officer Overtime 4.7 5.0 0.3 6.4
Police Staff Pay 79.2 77.8 (1.4) (1.8)
Police Staff Overtime 1.1 1.2 0.1 9.1
PCSO Pay 7.6 7.8 0.2 26
Employee Related Expenditure 3.9 4.0 0.1 2.6
Premises Cost 11.2 11.2 0.0 0.0
Transport Costs 5.7 5.8 0.1 1.8
Supplies And Services 30.3 37.5 7.2 23.8
Capital Financing 4.5 4.5 0.0 0.0
Fees And Charges (24.8) (27.4) (2.6) 10.5
Specific Grants (8.3) (8.3) 0.0 0.0
Partner Contributions (0.4) (0.4) 0.0 0.0
Net Use of Reserves (0.5) 0.0 0.5 (100.0)
Total Net Budget 279.9 292.4 12.5 4.5
22 There may be arithmetic differences due to rounding
Page | 35

Page 47




Appendix B - Precept Summary

Table 21 £'000
| Budget Requirement 292,447
| Less Government Funding (159,559)
| To be met from council tax (incl. collection fund) 132,888
To be collected from the 10 Billing Authorities as follows:
Draft
2026/27 Precept Surp_lus/ Total
Billing Authority Tax Base Amount (Deficit) on Payments
@ £280 Collection Due
Fund
No. £ £ £
Broxbourne Borough Council 36,822.60 10,310,328.00 | (15,190.15) 10,295,137.85
Dacorum Borough Council 60,641.80 16,979,704.00 144,061.57 17,123,765.57
East Herts District Council 65,819.15 18,429,362.00 68,703.00 18,498,065.00
Hertsmere Borough Council 43,121.10 12,073,908.00 88,116.00 12,162,024.00
North Herts District Council 51,529.00 14,428,120.00 223,436.00 14,651,556.00
St Albans District Council 64,967.70 18,190,956.00 244,244.00 18,435,200.00
Stevenage Borough Council 28,884.50 8,087,660.00 252,714.23 8,340,374.23
Three Rivers District Council 40,124.80 11,234,944.00 | (247,819.34) 10,987,124.66
Watford Borough Council 35,687.70 9,992,556.00 (771.46) 9,991,784.54
Welwyn Hatfield District Council 44,511.40 12,463,192.00 | (60,555.92) 12,402,636.08
TOTAL | 472,109.75 132,190,730.00 696,937.93 | 132,887,667.93
Based on the following valuation bandings:
Table 22
Band A B C D E F G H
Proportion of Band D charge 6/9ths | 7/9ths | 8/9ths | 9/9ths | 11/9ths | 13/9ths | 15/9ths | 18/9ths
2025/26 Charge £ 176.67 | 206.11 | 235.56 | 265.00 | 323.89 | 382.78 | 441.67 | 530.00
2026/27 Charge £ 186.67 | 217.78 | 248.89 | 280.00 | 342.22 | 404.44 | 466.67 | 560.00
Precept increase £ per annum | 10.00 | 11.67 | 13.33 | 15.00 | 18.33 | 21.66 | 25.00 | 30.00
Precept increase £ per month 0.83 0.97 1.1 1.25 1.53 1.81 2.08 2.50
Precept increase £ per week 0.19 0.22 0.26 0.29 0.35 0.42 0.48 0.58
Precept increase £ per day 0.03 0.03 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.06 0.07 0.08
Page | 36

Page 48




Graph 6

Council Tax Banding Comparison by District
November 2025

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0% 80.0% 90.0% 100.0%

S e sw NG o

Hertsmere 2 10% 3%

e I
—— . T

mBandA mBandB mBandC mBandD mBandE mBandF Band G Band H

61 obed

Page | 37



12.Reserves Strategy
Introduction

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 mandates that both billing and precepting
authorities in England and Wales consider the level of reserves required to meet
estimated future expenditure when determining their budget requirements. This
strategy outlines a comprehensive approach to reserve management aimed at
ensuring the financial resilience of Hertfordshire Constabulary for effective policing

within the county.
Vision

To ensure Hertfordshire Constabulary possesses the financial resources necessary
to effectively fulfil its mission of protecting the public and serving the community,

while maintaining fiscal responsibility and transparency.
Background

In a dynamic environment characterised by evolving crime trends and uncertain
funding, Hertfordshire Constabulary requires a robust reserves strategy to navigate
unforeseen challenges. Furthermore, recent instances of local authorities facing
financial difficulties and issuing Section 114 notices underscore the critical
importance of a strong financial foundation for police forces. Maintaining an
adequate level of general reserves is essential as a contingency fund to address
unforeseen challenges, ensuring operational stability and the ability to respond

effectively to emergencies.
Current Reserve Levels and Usage

As of 31 March 2025, the PCC held £15.5m (£18.4m as of 31 March 2024) in total
reserves, categorised into general reserves (£12.6m) and earmarked reserves
(£2.9m). In the 2025/26 financial year, £4.2m is projected to be used from reserves,
primarily to address the anticipated £2.6m overspend on the revenue budget plus
£1.6m in redundancy costs. This will fully deplete the Budget Support Reserve from
£0.9m (31 March 2025) and further draws down the remaining £3.3m from the
General Reserve (Police Fund) leaving £9.3m, which is the entirety of the

Page 50 Page | 38



organisation’s usable reserves and equates to 2.8% of the gross budget by the end
of 2025/26. This level falls significantly below the Chief Finance Officer's
recommended level of 5%.

The table below outlines the anticipated reserve levels held by the PCC as of 31

March 2025 and their projected use in the subsequent years.

Table 1.
Balance 2025/26 Balance 2026/27 Balance 2027128 Balance
Reserve 31-Mar-25 Change 31-Mar-26 Change 31-Mar-27 Change 31-Mar-28
£000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
Base Budget Support Reserve 864 (864) 0 0 0 0 0
Road Safety Fund 1,517 (535) 982 (350) 632 (350) 282
Police Property Act Fund 69 30 99 30 129 30 159
Unconditional Funding Reserve 455 (455) 0 0 0 0 0
Total Specific Reserves 2,905 (1,824) 1,081 (320) 761 (320) 41
Police Fund 12,600 (3,336) 9,264 (2,975) 6,289 122 6,411
Total Specific and General Reserves 15,505 (7,471) 10,345 (3,295) 7,050 (198) 6,852

General Reserve

The General Reserve (or Police Fund) serves as a statutory contingency reserve to
fund unplanned and emergency expenditure, such as exceptional or extraordinary

policing operations and major incidents.

For the 2026/27 budget, the PCC is projected to maintain general reserves at £9.3m,
representing 2.8% of the gross budget. This figure remains below the 5% threshold
considered appropriate and prudent by the Chief Finance Officer. Given current
limitations in both other reserves and the revenue budget, increasing this reserve to
approximately £16.4m (=5%) is not achievable at present. However, the existing
level offers a degree of resilience against unforeseen financial challenges, while
adhering to current budget constraints. The 2026/27 budget also takes initial steps

towards improving the reserve position.
Earmarked Reserves

The table above presents the funds expected to be available in 2026/27. These

funds include:

a. Budget Support Reserve: This reserve is maintained to manage the financial
risks associated with day-to-day revenue expenditure and to support the

management of spending fluctuations within or across fiscal years. The current

Page 51 Page | 39



year's overspend will fully deplete this reserve, requiring future withdrawals from
the General Reserve.

b. Road Safety Fund: This dedicated fund retains the surplus income generated
from the National Driver Offender Retraining Scheme (NDORS) after meeting the
operational costs of the Camera Tickets and Collisions (CTC) unit. An allocation
of £0.350m has been set aside for reinvestment in road safety initiatives in
2026/27. Should no additional income be transferred into this fund by the CTC
and if current expenditure patterns continue, it is projected that the fund will be
fully expended by 2028/29.

c. Police Property Act Fund (PPAF): The PPAF is managed by the Chief Constable
in accordance with the Police Property Act Regulations 1997. It is generated from
the proceeds of the sale of goods recovered by the police that cannot be returned
to their original owner. The PPAF is used for charitable purposes that support

and complement local policing and crime reduction priorities.

d. Unconditional Funding Reserve: These funds are held due to timing differences
between when the income is received and when the associated expenditure
occurs across different financial years. As a result, this reserve acts as a financial
buffer, ensuring that the timing of grant income and related spending is
appropriately aligned. It is anticipated that the balance within this reserve will be

completely used during the 2025/26 financial year.

e. Capital Reserves: The Commissioner has formally requested approval from the
Secretary of State for the flexible use of capital receipts??, allowing the
organisation to use proceeds from asset sales to offset one-off redundancy costs.
In 2025/26, the capital receipts balance of £0.448m was allocated for this
purpose; consequently, the organisation presently holds no capital reserves

arising from asset disposals.

23 Guidance on flexible use of capital receipts - GOV.UK

Page 52

Page | 40


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/final-guidance-on-flexible-use-of-capital-receipts

Benchmarking

The table below shows Hertfordshire police's reserves-to-revenue ratio (as of 31
March 2025) is much lower than both its peers and the wider local authority sector.

Table 2.

Organisation(s) Total reserves to Net
9 Revenue Expenditure

Herts PCC 4.9%

England, Wales & Northern Ireland Police average?* 13.3%

All English Local Authorities average?® 22.4%

Herts Districts average?® 30%-45%

Herts County Council average?’ ~15.5%

CIPFA Financial Resilience Index

The CIPFA Financial Resilience Index is a diagnostic tool developed by the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) to help local
authorities in England assess their financial sustainability and resilience. Its primary
purpose is to provide a clear, evidence-based analysis of financial risk, enabling
councils to benchmark their position against others and take proactive steps to

address vulnerabilities.
Purpose

Risk Identification: It highlights key indicators that may signal financial stress, helping

local authorities identify areas of concern.

Benchmarking: Authorities can compare their financial performance with peers,

providing context for their financial decisions.

Transparency: The index fosters greater openness about financial risks, supporting

better communication with stakeholders.

Early Intervention: By identifying potential issues early, it helps authorities take timely
corrective actions to avoid financial instability.

24 CIPFA Police Objective Analysis (POA) and Financial Resilience Index for Police.

25 ’"MHCLG Revenue Outturn (RS) 2024-25 individual local authority data
26 Via Google Gemini
21 Hertfordshire County Council DRAFT Annual Report and Statement of Accounts 2024/25

Page 53 Page | 41



Methodology

The index uses a range of financial indicators based on publicly available data,

focusing on key aspects of financial resilience. These include:
1. Reserves Sustainability:

Examines the level of usable reserves and their trajectory, highlighting whether they

are being depleted unsustainably.
2. Debt Levels:

Assesses the burden of borrowing relative to the council's financial position and its

capacity to service debt.
3. Expenditure and Funding Balance:

Analyses the gap between service expenditure and available funding, measuring

reliance on one-off measures or reserves to balance budgets.
4. Tax and Revenue Indicators:

Looks at reliance on council tax as revenue sources and the volatility or growth

trends in these areas.
5. Income Generation:

Evaluates the authority’s ability to generate additional income streams to support

core services.

The tool generates a relative risk score for each indicator, ranking authorities from
low to high risk. This allows councils to see where they stand in relation to others
and prioritise actions to strengthen their financial resilience. The index is updated
annually to reflect changes in financial conditions and incorporates the latest data to

ensure relevance.
Hertfordshire’s Financial Resilience Score

As outlined in Appendix 1, Hertfordshire's financial resilience, as evaluated by CIPFA
as of 31 March 2024, the most recent data available, ranks seventh lowest among

the 43 police forces across England, Wales, and Northern Ireland. Hertfordshire

Page 54 Page | 42



received a score of (15.41), which is notably below the national average of +11.2028,
Additionally, Appendix 2 indicates that within Hertfordshire’s Most Similar Group

(MSG), the force ranks second lowest, compared to the group average of +12.762°,

The graph presented overleaf illustrates the potential trajectory for Hertfordshire’s
reserves under several scenarios. If the existing pattern of overspending persists,
excluding any anticipated one-off redundancy payments, the organisation’s total
reserves are projected to be entirely depleted by the end of May 2028. This scenario
highlights the urgent need to address ongoing overspends to safeguard financial
stability. Furthermore, in the event that overspending ceases from 2026/27 onwards
and only the planned one-off redundancy costs are incurred, reserves would still be
exhausted, albeit at a later date, specifically, by January 2029, which is eight months
beyond the previous scenario. This underscores the significant impact that even
isolated pressures, such as redundancy payments, can have on the authority’s
financial resilience. However, implementation of the proposed reserve replenishment
strategy is expected to avert the total depletion of reserves. The plan involves
restoring reserves by £0.5m in 2026/27 and an additional £1.9m in 2027/28,
amounting to £2.4m per annum. If this approach is successfully executed, reserves
are forecast to gradually recover, reaching approximately 5% by the end of the
2032/33 financial year.

28 Ranges from +57.16 for North Wales to -36.46 for Nottinghamshire

29 Ranges from +42.36 for Thames Valley to -19.66 for Leicestershire

Page 55 Page | 43



Graph 1
Hertfordshire PCC Reserves Depletion Graph

5000 £47.90m
4000
3000
£ oo
£13.50m
1000
£5.27m
000
S - T A - R . S, Y, S 1
B e e A e s N oF
o & o & It & & o & & & oy o & o &
ﬂ;\, rb\ _\ P 1:\ rb\ “;\, rb\ rb'\ 1:\ rb\ ! rb\ “:l\ 1:\

Financial Year-end

The Chief Finance Officer remains concerned about declining reserves, a problem
made worse by ongoing budget challenges, rising costs from inflation, and
increasing demand for services. Current forecasts show that the organisation’s
reserves are being used up at an unsustainable rate, which could seriously threaten
financial stability if not addressed. The situation is being closely monitored to ensure
the organisation can continue meeting its statutory obligations. Should finances
worsen further and current corrective actions fall short, the Chief Finance Officer is
prepared to take necessary steps, including issuing a Section 114 notice, to protect
both compliance and the organisation’s financial health. Although steps are being
taken to tackle these financial issues, it is crucial to guard against overconfidence or
complacency and alert to the potential for optimism bias. Underestimating the
seriousness of the situation could mean requesting Exceptional Financial Support
(EFS) from the Government, which may lead to financial and reputational

consequences for the organisation.
Implementation and Considerations

While acknowledging the current financial pressures facing police forces across the
nation, Hertfordshire recognises the paramount importance of maintaining adequate
reserves. Responsible utilisation is equally vital, and the proposed strategy balances

Page 56 Page | 44

£10.06m

28 January 2029

o
r
o



flexibility with fiscal prudence. By adopting a well-defined and adaptable reserves

strategy Hertfordshire can achieve financial resilience and preparedness for

unforeseen challenges.

The table below assesses Hertfordshire’s current compliance with CIPFA’s

seven key principles for adequate reserves.

Table 3.

Budget assumptions

Current situation

The treatment of inflation and

interest rates

Hertfordshire makes full and appropriate
provision for pay and price rises, as
appropriate. With affordability being a key
consideration police officers pay inflation is
determined by the government following
recommendation from the Police
Remuneration Review Body (PRRB) and
police staff is via negotiation through the

Police Staff Council.

An informed assessment is made of interest
rate movements using external sources such
as Bank of England (BoE), Office of National
Statistics (ONS), Office for Budget
Responsibility (OBR), and external independent

advisors.

All individual income and expenditure lines
within the revenue budget are prepared and

published at estimated outturn prices.

Estimates of the level and timing of

capital receipts

We make a judicious assumption of future
capital receipts. Currently there are £24.0m of

planned capital receipts over the medium-term.

The treatment of demand led

pressures

The Constabulary has identified the need for
£11.6m of cashable savings which will be
removed from the budget over the next four
years (2026/27 to 2029/30).

Page 57 Page | 45




Some government grants are announced
annually in advance and are cash limited. Any
new policing pressures arising during the year
will have to be funded from the organisation’s
own resources.

The Commissioner had created earmarked
revenue reserves to help finance potential
specific, ad-hoc expenditure, but these have
will been exhausted as at 31 March 2026.

Ordinarily, where sufficient resources exist,
appropriations are made to and from these

reserves on an annual basis, as required.

Finally, the general reserve is used as a last
resort to manage extraordinary unforeseen
spending requirements and not to shore up the
day-to-day revenue expenditure.

The treatment of planned
efficiency savings/productivity
gains.

The medium-term plan anticipates a funding
gap of circa. £11.6m from 2026/27 if there are
modest council tax increases in each year of
£14. All savings are assessed in terms of

deliverability.

The financial risks inherent in any
significant new funding
partnerships, collaboration, major
outsourcing arrangements, or

major capital developments

The financial consequences of working
collaboratively, outsourcing arrangements and
capital investment are incorporated as part of
the medium-term planning process. Where
relevant and quantifiable, any additional costs
are incorporated in the annual revenue budget
and/or capital programme. However, there is a
clear risk of losing funding from local authority
partners. They may withdraw their support for

initiatives such as match funded PCSOs or

joint estates, because of changing priorities or

Page 58 Page | 46




budget constraints. In that case, we would try
to offset the loss by reducing any grants
payable to them. Moreover, the financial
viability of private sector service providers
may face increased risks from inflationary and

supply-chain pressures.

The total capital programme is expected to be
in excess of £75m over the medium-term,
mostly financed by debt. Servicing this debt
(interest payments and principal repayments
or minimum revenue provisions) will come
from revenue resources. Fixed-rate loans
mitigate interest rate risks, but any significant
pre-borrowing uptick in rates could still impact
revenue.

Following the recent budget PWLB borrowing
rates have increased significantly and so the
timing of any loan debt is crucial in interest

rates

The availability of reserves,
government grants, and other funds
to deal with major contingencies

and the adequacy of provisions

As set out above the availability of reserves is
expected to reduce to £9.3m by the end of
2025/26.

The access criteria for Home Office special
grants state that PCCs may be required to
fund up to 1% of their net budget requirement
themselves before Government considers
grant aid. This applies on an annual basis and

equates to approximately £2.9m.

The external auditors, KPMG, are required to
conduct a VFM assessment, to assess the
organisations’ ability to continue as a going

concern.

Page 59 Page |47




The general financial climate to

which the authority is subject.

Inflation and Monetary Policy

UK inflation remains above the Bank of
England’s 2% target, with CPI rising to 3.4%
in December 2025 and core CPI steady at
3.2%. Price pressures were driven by tobacco
duty changes and seasonal airfare increases.
Despite a recent rate cut, policymakers
remain cautious. Bank Rate is projected to fall
to around 3.25% by mid-2026.

Government Finances

High government borrowing increased short-
dated gilt issuance, and fiscal credibility
concerns continue to keep borrowing costs
elevated. Public-sector funding settlements,

including policing, are likely to remain tight.
Labour Market

The labour market continues to soften with
unemployment rising to 5.1% (three-month
rate) and wage growth remaining elevated.
Workforce planning must account for

sustained pay-related cost pressures.
Police Funding Outlook

National economic pressures imply tight
policing settlements, higher capital financing
costs, and continued reliance on local precept

flexibility.
Financial Planning

Weak GDP growth (0.1% in Q3 2025)
suggests limited fiscal headroom. Medium-

Page 60

Page | 48




term planning should assume restricted grant

increases and elevated cost baselines.
Cost Control

Service-sector inflation remains strong,
creating pressure on contracted services such
as ICT, estates, and fleet. Cost-management

strategies remain essential.
Resource Allocation

Funding constraints require prioritisation of
resources, strong business cases for
investment, and careful balance between pay

and non-pay budgets.
Collaboration

Collaboration across forces, shared
procurement, joint units, and shared digital

platforms, can mitigate inflation pressures.
Contingency Planning

Inflation volatility, uncertain interest-rate
paths, and weak economic momentum require
scenario-based planning, including
contingencies around pay awards, contract

inflation, and capital financing.

Page 61 Page | 49




Appendix 1 - England, Wales & Northern Ireland Comparison

Police Financial Resilience Index

Police Force, MSG
Al v Final Resilience Scores

Base score by Police Force

CD All force average: 11.20
I I
-20
-40 Y 3
o N e R © <2 T g LR A & 2 O N e
q?)\e &\e\\\3 2\\\e 28 \s%\e S W \\\3‘\ ,,\\\‘ o \:;\\\ & \}\o N "\\\ S ‘&\ “Q‘o o‘”\a "‘\\ %\\\c \0« N 0‘\\( \'o“ &?\ ;\o W e ‘:;0« {;“' N "\\« (d;,e ({9\0 \_eo \\\ & “,\\\t (\0\\ 0\\@ £
9 QW & ¥ Q° & <-, Q€ -\Q A& R N & o e (, GV 87 (2Y Q& @ 6 [ TR 87 &
& T P @y RS NI & PO G‘ b@ Lo ‘“@\‘ AR IR & W e o” & e 5
\ o e N
o <X R o \Ao<\ o\‘<i7 (_)0‘- e W ol \\\-\a\‘ N o« > 2 b QT RE TS 0T N (N
A o‘a W QO 0&?’ W

Page | 50



Appendix 2 - Most Similar Group (MSG) Comparison

CIPFA Police Financial Resilience Index

Police Force, MSG

Hertfordshire v Final Resilience Scores

Base score by Police Force

MSG force average 12.76

All force average: 11.20

-10

Thames Valley Sussex Avon & Somerset Hampshire Staffordshire Essex

Hertfordshire

Leicestershire

Page | 51



13.Section 25 Report — Robustness of Estimates and Adequacy of Reserves
1. Statutory context and basis of opinion

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Finance Officer
(s151) to report to the authority on the adequacy of reserves and the robustness of
the estimates made for the purposes of the budget calculations. In forming this
opinion, | have considered the 2026/27 revenue budget, the Medium-Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS), the provisional funding settlement, the taxbase and collection fund
returns received from billing authorities, identified savings and investments, and

known and emerging risks.

2. Robustness of estimates — assessment
2.1 Funding and grant risk

Government grants remain the single largest funding source. While a cash increase
is indicated for 2026/27, the late and partial nature of the settlement and the absence
of full detail on consolidations create planning risk. The estimates assume moderate
grant growth over the MTFS but recognise exposure to national fiscal constraint and

potential policy change.
2.2 Inflation and macroeconomic risk

General CPl is assumed to ease over the MTFS; however, service-sector and
contract inflation may persist above headline CPI. The budget includes an inflation
contingency and cost-control measures, but there is risk of pressure on ICT, estates

and fleet contracts if inflation proves stickier.
2.3 Pay awards, workforce and pay drift

Assumptions include police and staff pay awards of ¢.3% in 2026/27, with risk
around national pay settlements and drift as officers and staff move through pay
points. Workforce plans include vacancy and redundancy programmes; delivery risk

remains, given prior year under-delivery and timing of voluntary exits.
2.4 Standstill pressures

The standstill requirement for 2026/27 is significant, driven by pay, non-pay inflation,

capital financing (including HQ redevelopment) and reserve replenishment. These

Page 64 Page | 52



pressures are structural and represent a key risk to estimates if underlying

assumptions vary.
2.5 Sensitivity analysis

A 1% movement in key variables (e.g., police pay, staff pay, utilities, supplies, grant,
precept and taxbase) has been modelled and demonstrates material exposure. |
have considered these sensitivities in forming this opinion.

2.6 Capital programme and borrowing

The capital programme will be financed predominantly by borrowing and capital
receipts. Affordability depends on interest-rate trajectory, timing of borrowing, and
MRP growth. Fixed-rate products and phasing will be used to mitigate risk;

nevertheless, adverse rate movements could increase revenue pressure.
2.7 National programmes and external dependencies

Slippage and scope changes in national programmes (e.g., ESN) may require

in-year responses and create unfunded pressures.
2.8 Council tax — precept, taxbase and collection fund

The budget relies on a £15 Band D precept increase and modest taxbase growth.
The collection fund has shown volatility across districts; while a surplus is forecast
for 2026/27, year-to-year swings remain a material risk. Public acceptance of the

precept and delivery of Local Council Tax Support policies also affect income.
2.9 Income volatility and partnerships

NDORS-linked income is inherently self-limiting (success in road safety reduces
income). In addition, several partners have withdrawn or reduced contributions to
PCSO posts. This creates volatility and potential structural pressure in the base
budget.

2.10 Legal claims and insurance

Actuarial advice indicates a level of exposure for self-insured claims that exceeds

current headroom, heightening the risk of in-year calls on reserves if claims

Page 65 Page | 53



crystallise above provision.
2.11 Demand-led operational pressures

While demand is assumed to be broadly stable, unforeseen events, serious and
organised crime, safeguarding, and complex investigations could require additional
overtime and non-pay spend. Enhanced tasking and analytical capability will help

manage this risk.
2.12 Governance change and CSR risk

Potential structural reform of PCC governance and any future police force
reorganisation may create transitional cost and capacity pressures. The next
Comprehensive Spending Review could change grant trajectories or attach further

conditions to funding.
2.13 Optimism bias and forecasting discipline

Explicit allowance has been made for optimism bias risk. Strengthened in-year
monitoring, scenario planning and early corrective action are integral to maintaining

robustness.
2.14 Structural Reform

The Government’s proposals for abolishing PCCs in 2028, alongside expected
reforms from the Police Reform White Paper, present material medium to long-term
financial and organisational risks. These reforms may require substantial transitional
resources, including workforce capacity, ICT migration, governance redesign, and
legal and programme-management support. Historic LGR programmes have
demonstrated the potential for significant unfunded transition costs if government
funding is not clearly defined. Reorganisation may overlap with existing
transformation programmes e.g. Local Government Reorganisation (LGR),
increasing delivery pressures. Scenario planning, active engagement with the Home
Office and MHCLG, and lobbying for full reimbursement of transition costs will be

essential.

Page 66 Page | 54



3. Adequacy of reserves — assessment

Usable reserves are forecast to reduce to a level materially below the previously
recommended 5% of net revenue expenditure by the end of 2025/26, reflecting
revenue overspends and one-off redundancy costs. Scenario analysis indicates that,
absent corrective action, reserves could be depleted within the medium term. The
MTFS includes an initial replenishment plan and reduced reliance on reserves for
recurrent spending. Given the risk environment, | judge reserves to be at the lower
end of adequacy and highly dependent on strict delivery of the savings programme,
robust in-year financial control, and the avoidance of using reserves to support

recurring expenditure.

4. Chief Finance Officer opinion

Having considered the matters set out above, including the sensitivity of key
assumptions, external dependencies and the current level and trajectory of reserves,
| judge the estimates for 2026/27 to be sufficiently robust and the level of reserves to
be adequate for the purposes of Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003,
subject to the following material conditions and mitigations:

* Delivery of the identified £6.886m savings in 2026/27 and the wider MTFS savings
requirement, with strengthened programme governance, monthly reporting, and
clear accountabilities.

» Maintenance of a strict in-year spending discipline, including vacancy controls,
overtime controls, benefits tracking for investments, and rapid corrective action
where adverse variances emerge.

+ Active management of the capital financing strategy (borrowing timing, fixed-rate
hedging, and phasing) to protect the revenue budget.

» Continued engagement with Government on funding, pay awards and special
grants, alongside transparent public and stakeholder engagement on the precept.

* Implementation of the reserves replenishment strategy and avoidance of using
reserves for recurrent spending except in extremis.

» Enhanced monitoring of collection fund performance, taxbase movements, and
partnership contributions to identify and address volatility early.

+ Clear treatment of optimism bias in forecasts and the use of scenario planning for
credible downside cases.

Page 67 Page | 55



5. Management actions and contingency

Together with the Constabulary’s s151 officer, | will ensure thorough financial
oversight by providing regular updates to the Commissioner and Chief Constable,
covering risk-adjusted savings delivery and forecasts of reserves. If there is
significant deterioration in our financial position, | will follow established governance
procedures, which may include implementing spending controls and opening early
discussions with the Home Office and MHCLG. As the s151 Officer, | am prepared to
take all statutory actions required to fulfil my fiduciary responsibilities, including

considering a Section 114 report if necessary.

lan Rooney CPFA FCCA FMAAT AffilACT
Chief Finance Officer (s151)

Page 68 Page | 56



	Agenda
	1 AGENDA AND REPORTS
	2026_27 Precept Consultation Report
	Final PCP Precept Proposal Report 2026-27
	Executive Summary
	a. Core Grant5F  - £176.595m (£145.017m in 2025/26)
	h. Capital Grant
	No grant has been provided to forces for capital funding.
	i. Ministry of Justice (MoJ) Grants
	a. Taxbase
	b. Collection fund
	c. Band D Council Tax
	d. Overall Increase in Council Tax Income
	10. Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner (OPCC)
	11. Medium-term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
	3. Adequacy of reserves – assessment
	4. Chief Finance Officer opinion
	5. Management actions and contingency




